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The trustees of the GDST Academy Trust (‘the Academy Trust’), who are also directors of the 
Academy Trust for the purposes of the Companies Act, present their statutory report and 
the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2023. The Trustees' Report 
serves as both a trustees’ report, and a directors’ report under company law. Details of the 
trustees who served throughout the year except as noted are included in the Reference and 
Administrative Details on page 3. 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies on 
pages 38 to 44 of the attached financial statements and comply with the charitable company’s 
memorandum and articles of association, the Companies Act 2006 and the Accounting and 
Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing 
their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)). The report has been prepared in 
accordance with the Charities Act 2011. 
 

STRUCTURE, GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT 
 

Constitution 
The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee (No. 06000347) and is an exempt 
charity. The charitable company’s memorandum and articles of association are the primary 
governing documents of the Academy Trust. The trustees of GDST Academy Trust are also the 
directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law. Membership of the 
Academy Trust comprises the following: 
 

- The Girls’ Day School Trust (the initial subscriber and principal sponsor) 

- The holders of the offices of Chairman and Deputy Chairman of the Girls’ Day School 

Trust ex officio  

The Secretary of State for Education (DfE) has the right to appoint one person to the 
membership of the Academy Trust. This right has not yet been exercised. 
 
The members may unanimously agree to appoint such additional members as they think fit.  
 
Principal Activities 
The Academy Trust operates two academies for girls, namely The Belvedere Academy 
(“Belvedere”) in Liverpool and Birkenhead High School Academy (“Birkenhead” or “BHSA”) on 
the Wirral to: 
 

- Advance the education of girls for the public benefit; and 

- to promote for the benefit of the public/social welfare the provision of facilities for 

recreation or other leisure time occupation.  
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Members’ liability 
Each member of the Academy Trust undertakes to contribute such amount as may be required 
(not exceeding £10) to the Academy Trust’s assets if it should be wound up while he or she is 
a member or within one year after he or she ceases to be a member for the payment of the 
Academy Trust’s debts and liabilities contracted before he or she ceases to be a member. 
 
Trustees 
The Academy Trust has provision for the following trustees (governors): 
 

- The Girls’ Day School Trust (initial subscriber and principal sponsor) may appoint up to 

ten sponsor trustees; 

- The Chair of each academy’s Local Governing Body, provided that the number does 

not exceed three. 

All trustees receive induction training and are supplied with copies of policies, procedures, 
minutes, budgets, plans and other documents that they will require to undertake their role as 
trustee. Ongoing training is delivered on an ad hoc basis. During the period, the trustees held 
3 meetings.  
 
Potential new trustees are identified by the board, ensuring that the skills and experience of 
new trustees are complementary to those of existing board members. 
 
Trustees receive no remuneration or benefits in respect of their duties as trustees but are 
reimbursed for expenses incurred in carrying out their duties. The amount of expenses 
reimbursed to trustees in the year was nil (2022: nil) (refer to Note 9 to the financial 
statements). 
 
In accordance with normal commercial practice, the Academy Trust purchases insurance to 
protect trustees from claims arising from negligent acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst 
on Academy Trust business. The cost of this insurance is included in the total insurance cost, 
details of which are shown in note 10 to the financial statements. 
 
Under the terms of the Academy Trust’s Memorandum, the Academy Trust may enter into a 
contract for the supply of goods or services at cost with the Girls’ Day School Trust or any of 
its subsidiaries at any time when a trustee is a member or employee of the Girls’ Day School 
Trust or such trading subsidiary. Goods or services acquired under such a contract must 
actually be required by the Academy Trust, the level of remuneration must be reasonable in 
relation to the value of the goods or services and no trustee (or connected person) shall have 
a pecuniary interest which conflicts with the Academy Trust’s interests. The Academy Trust 
has entered into an agreement with the Girls’ Day School Trust to provide particular services 
on this basis (described in note 24 to the financial statements). 
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Organisational structure 
The organisational structure consists of three levels: the Academy Trust Board (the trustees); 
in addition, each academy within the Trust will have a Local Governing Body and a Senior 
Leadership Team. 
The Academy Trust Board (the ATB) is responsible for the overall strategic direction of each 
academy and for those statutory duties which may not be delegated to sub-committees. The 
principal roles of the ATB are: 
 

- to set the Trust’s strategy; 
- to monitor each academy’s performance against key performance indicators; 
- to maintain the financial stability of the Trust; 
- to review the Trust’s policies and procedures that provide internal control and mitigate 

risk; 
- to receive and consider assurances in relation to internal control concerning risk and 

governance as appropriate. 
 
The Local Governing Bodies (LGBs) are committees of the Academy Trust Board (ATB). Legal 
responsibility for the Academy Trust lies with the ATB but the ATB relies on advice and support 
from the LGBs. The key purposes of the LGBs are: 

 
- to monitor the academy’s financial and academic performance; 
- to develop strategic policies which reflect the academy’s vision and ethos; 
- to promote the academy and foster links with the local community. 

 
The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) of each academy will typically include the Principal, Vice 
Principal, Assistant Vice Principals and Finance Director. The SLT control the academy at an 
executive level implementing the policies approved by the Academy Trust Board. 
 
The salaries of the Principals are determined by the ATB. The Principals are responsible for 
the appointment of staff and their salary grading. For those members of SLT on the teachers’ 
pay scale, salaries and other allowances are increased in accordance with the annual 
percentage increase agreed for teachers in the maintained sector by the Secretary of State 
for Education. For SLT members on the support staff pay scale, the rates of pay which will 
apply are those generally prevailing for comparable employment in the public sector and are 
increased in line with increases agreed by the appropriate national negotiating bodies in 
those sectors.  
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Trade Unions Facility Time 
Relevant Union Officials 
 

Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during the year 

Full-time equivalent employee number 

3 3 

 
 
Percentage of time spent on facility time 
 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 1 

1%-50% 2 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 

 
 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
 

Total cost of facility time (£’000) 1 

Total pay bill (£’000) 11,980 

% of total pay bill spent on facility time, 
calculated as: 
(total cost of facility time / total pay bill) X 100 

0% 

 
Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours 

100% 

 
 
Related Parties and other Connected Charities and Organisations 
The Academy Trust works closely with its principal sponsor, the Girls’ Day School Trust, its co-
sponsor of the Belvedere Academy, the DfE, the Education and Skills Funding Agency, the Local 
Education Authorities and other local organisations. Girls’ Day School Trust provides certain 
services including IT and payroll under service agreements. 
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OBJECTIVES AND ACTIVITIES FOR PUBLIC BENEFIT 
 

The principal objective of the Academy Trust is to advance education for the public benefit, 
by establishing, maintaining, operating and developing schools, including but not limited to 
academies, offering a broad curriculum with a strong emphasis on the specialisms specified in 
the relevant Funding Agreements. In setting the Trust’s objectives and planning its activities, 
the trustees have given careful consideration to the Charity Commission’s general guidance 
on public benefit.  
 
The catchment area for the Belvedere Academy is Merseyside and the surrounding areas, 
whilst that for the Birkenhead High School Academy is the Wirral and the surrounding areas. 
Each academy’s admissions policy is included in its Funding Agreement and applications for 
places at the academies are made in accordance with the relevant local authority’s co-
ordinated admission arrangements. 
 
The Academy Trust aims to work with others to create a healthy, safe environment within 
which all of its pupils can enjoy learning, make progress and achieve high standards. Each pupil 
is encouraged to participate fully and make a positive contribution to their academy and the 
wider community and ultimately become successful, motivated, well-adjusted adults who 
achieve economic well-being.  
 
In addition, the Academy Trust promotes the provision of its facilities for recreation, sports 
and other leisure time occupation for the benefit of the public/social welfare in the local 
community. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT 
TRATEGICREPORT 
ACHIEVEMENTS AND PERFORMANCE  
 

The following paragraphs present a review of the significant activities undertaken by the 
Academy Trust during the year to further its charitable purposes for public benefit. 
 
Key performance indicators 
Pupil Numbers 
Demand for entry to both academies continues to be strong, with applications far exceeding 
the available number of places in the Junior School and the Senior Schools at Year 7. Pupil 
numbers in the Sixth Form are a key performance indicator of the Academy Trust. Belvedere 
continues to sustain close to capacity numbers whilst Birkenhead High School Academy 
(BHSA) faces increasing competition from other local providers and Sixth Form retention and 
recruitment remains an area of particular focus.  
 
Pupil numbers at BHSA currently stand at 28 in Nursery, 393 in Juniors, 673 in Seniors and 
126 in the Sixth Form, making a total of 1,207 (September 2022 including Nursery : 1,215). 
The junior school Pupil Admission Number (PAN) is 56, whilst the senior school PAN 
increased by 27 to 135 in September 2018.  
 
Belvedere is heavily over-subscribed; the academy is at capacity with pupil numbers 
standing currently at 1,119 (September 2022: 1,057). The local authority funded an 
expansion to the current site enabling the PAN to increase by 25 to 155 from September 
2019 with a further expansion and increase to 180 from September 2022. This again has 
been funded by the local authority driven by the popularity of the school and increased 
demand for places in the local vicinity. The Sixth Form continues to be a popular option with 
many of Belvedere students choosing to stay on after GCSEs. The Sixth Form currently stands 
at 284, with 54 pupils being recruited from external schools in Year 12 this year. 
 
Academic results  
The academic results of the academies is also a key performance indicator. Results that are 
usually monitored include Progress 8, Attainment 8 and Key stage 1 and 2 measures.  
 
GCSE and A-Level examinations were held for the first time since 2019 this year again along 
with primary school formal assessments.  
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Academic results (continued) 
 
 
Academic results are a key performance indicator and results demonstrate the Academy 
Trust exceeds National averages in many areas. Results are shown below. 
  

Key Stage 4 22/23 22/23 22/23 21/22 21/22 21/22 

 Birkenhead Belvedere National (#) Birkenhead Belvedere National (#) 

Progress 8 +0.65 +0.11 0.00 +0.3 +0.07 +0.15 
Attainment 8 51.1 

points 
54.6 

points 
45.0 

points 
50.41 
points 

58 
 points 

51.3  
points 

% of students 
gaining Grade C/4 
or above in 
English & Maths 

 
 

78% 

 
 

76% 

 
 

65% 70% 86.0% 67.4% 

% of students 
gaining Grade 5 
or above in 
English & Maths 

 
 

51% 

 
 

55% 

 
 

42% 42.0% 67.0% 52.5% 

 

Key Stage 5  22/23 22/23 22/23 21/22 21/22 21/22 

 Birkenhead Belvedere National (#) Birkenhead Belvedere National (#) 

Grades at A*/A  
23% 

 
23% 

 
 26.5% 

 
31.3% 

 
36.0% 

 
25.5% 

Grades at A*-B  
51% 

 
54% 

 
52.7% 

 
57.8% 

 
63.0% 

 
52.0% 

Overall Pass 
Rate at A level 

 
98% 

 
98% 

 
97.2% 98.8% 100% 

 
98.0% 

 
 (#) National Boys’ & Girls’ figure  
 

Early Years Attainment 22/23 22/23 21/22 21/22 

 
Birkenhead Local 

Authority 
(Wirral) 

Birkenhead Local 
Authority 
(Wirral) 

Good Level of Development 78% 65% 57% 63% 

 
A Good Level of Development is achieved at the end of Foundation 2 when pupils achieve at 
least the ‘expected’ level in all prime areas plus all numeracy and literacy areas. 
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Academic results (continued) 
 

Key Stage 1 Attainment 22/23 21/22 

Phonics Screening Check Year 1 95% 95% 

Working at or beyond the national standard in   

Reading 73% 62% 

Writing 63% 40% 

Maths 64% 55% 

Key Stage 2 Attainment and Progress 22/23 21/22 

Reading - % at and beyond national standard 77% 77% 

Reading - Progress score* +1.92 -2.00 

   

Writing- % at and beyond national standard 73% 55% 

Writing – Progress score* +0.91 -4.00 

   

Grammar, Punctuation & Spelling - % at and 
beyond national standard 

71% 82% 

   

Maths - % at and beyond national standard 71% 66% 

Maths - Progress score* -0.42 -4.40 

 
* Most schools will have progress scores between −5 and +5. If a school has a progress score 
of 0 this means that on average their pupils achieved similar results at the end of KS2 (end of 
year 6) to pupils in other schools with similar results at the end of KS1 (end of year 2). 
 
Highlights of the year 
Birkenhead High School Academy 
 
BHSA celebrated some outstanding examination results throughout the academy, with 
impressive progress scores in many areas. Excellence was not only confined to the classroom 
as our enrichment programme and leadership opportunities continued to flourish. We now 
have one of the largest all girls army cadets corps in the country, our cadets have been 
called to represent their school at many prestigious local events and are competing in 
national first aid competitions. Our sixth form entrepreneurs benefited from the GDST Lead 
programme in collaboration with the London School of Economics and our Junior School 
Fiver Challenge business initiative had record numbers competing. 
 
Our status as a “reading school” was celebrated at a global level in the summer term with a 
presentation about our partnership and reading initiatives at the International Coalition of 
Girls Schools conference in Cleveland, Ohio. Not many schools can offer two libraries and the 
high calibre author events held at BHSA, which are attended by many pupils form local 
schools. A highlight this year for us all was a visit from Jaqueline Wilson. Our librarian is also 
the driving force behind the GDST’s annual Book of The Year awards. 
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Our drive on oracy throughout the school has had a powerful impact culminating in the 
grand final of the KS3 spoken English competition at the end of the autumn term, 
showcasing some impressive speeches on challenging subjects. Students throughout the 
school were also inspired by guest speakers, such as Preet Chandi (Polar Preet) in the Junior 
School speaking about her world record expeditions to the Antarctic and Brendon Prince in 
the Senior School from Above Water speaking about water safety and his world record 
journey around the UK on a paddle board. 
 
There was much to celebrate on the sports field with our future lionesses winning the GDST 
U15 football tournament and other students representing school, county and England in a 
variety of sports. 
 
Music and drama showcased the talents of many students with performances of Peter Pan in 
the Junior School and Matilda in the Senior School. Our KS4 and KS5 drama students excelled 
at the Lowry theatre in Salford in the National Connections competition. 
 
Our whole school community participated in another BHSA World Culture day at the end of 
the summer term, this year led purely by our own students and not visiting speakers. The 
variety of cultures and celebration of diversity was a highlight of the year and epitomised 
our community ethos. 
  
The Belvedere Academy 
The year 2022/2023 saw our first larger Year 7 group entering the Academy. The pupil 
allocation number is now 180 and we continue to build at the Academy to accommodate 
these larger numbers. The building project is funded by Liverpool City Council and consists of 
the refurbishment of House 11 - one of the Victorian houses that make up the Belvedere 
site, and the construction of a new block of 6 classrooms at the far end of the school. The 
project will also enable us to up scale our outside facilities to create some really attractive 
outdoor social spaces. 
 
House 11 was completed during the Summer of 2023. This has given us two floors of 
additional capacity for the teaching of Creative Arts, as well as a bespoke Sixth Form social 
space. The top floor of House 11 now accommodates Student Support. Our Special 
Educational Needs coordinators and team are based here as are our team of Teaching 
Assistants and visiting counsellors. We also have a counsellor from Place2Be three times a 
week who works out of this space. We have teaching facilities up there as well as a 
regulation space and small spaces for conversation. The new build of six classrooms will be 
completed by August 2024 - it is taking great shape and we are very excited about the new 
large classrooms which it will provide. 
 
Our work on the structure of the school day came into fruition in September 2022 providing 
us with a compulsory enrichment slot for all in the middle of the day. Music, PE and Drama 
activities happen across this time as well as after school and pupils not engaging in these 
participate in activities led by their Head of Year or Form tutor. We also use this time to run 
assemblies. Year 12 also provide enrichment activities after school with everything from Film 
Club to Manga.  
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Year 12 are also very involved in our annual Drama Festival which this term ran in the Spring 
term culminating in a performance day at the end of term. All forms in Year 8 and 9 take 
part directed by over 100 Year 12 pupils. Year 7 also come and watch and then the day after 
we have the announcement of the winner and the Oscars! This year didn't disappoint with 
some amazing performances. 
 
Our annual Prizegiving took place in November in the Liverpool Metropolitan Cathedral. It 
was attended by all pupils and staff and a number of parents and enabled us to celebrate 
examination success as well as other successes across the school. This year pupils from the 
Autism Group, Equality and Diversity team, CCF and the Peer Mentor team spoke about their 
work - to give these teams a space to share what they had done was new for Belvedere but 
was certainly something we plan to do in the future. 
 
Culture Day happened this year in March and saw an amazing fashion show and cultural 
celebration as well as workshops for our Year 7, 8 and 9 pupils about different cultures, 
diversity and neurodiversity. 
 
We have some great plans for more trips this year. The MFL department ran three trips to 
different places and we started planning for the music tour to Paris and a wonderful trip to 
Ecuador. 
 
There are lots of things to look forward to at Belvedere! 
 

PROMOTING THE SUCCESS OF THE ACADEMY TRUST 
The Trustees have promoted the success of the Academy Trust for the benefit of its members 
and stakeholders and in doing so have given regard to: 

 
Long-term decision making 
The Academy Trust has a long-term focus and is a responsible provider of state-funded 
education for pupils of all abilities. As part of its decision making the ATB considers the likely 
consequences of any decision in the long-term for all significant matters discussed. The ATB 
regularly discusses strategic issues and considers the impact on the long-term of the Academy 
Trust. 
 
Employees 
The people employed by the Academy Trust are critical to the success of the academies overall 
and engagement with staff continues to be a focus with annual employee surveys performed 
and acted upon. Employees can access high quality training courses provided by GDST. 
 
Business relationships 
Maintaining good relationships with suppliers remains critical to the Academy Trust’s own 
performance and reputation. Performance of key suppliers is monitored. Robust processes 
are in place to ensure settlement of invoices occurs within terms in place.  
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Other stakeholders 
The Trustees have also identified pupils, parents and the community as key stakeholders. The 
Academy Trust aims to work with others to create a healthy, safe environment within which 
all of its pupils can enjoy learning, make progress and achieve high standards. Each pupil is 
encouraged to participate fully and make a positive contribution to their academy and the 
wider community and ultimately become successful, motivated, well-adjusted adults who 
achieve economic well-being.  
 
In addition, the Academy Trust promotes the provision of its facilities for recreation, sports 
and other leisure time occupation for the benefit of the public/social welfare in the local 
community. 
 

FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

The financial position of the Academy Trust is detailed in the following pages.  
 
Most of the Academy Trust’s income is obtained from the Education and Skills Funding Agency 
in the form of recurrent and capital grants, the use of which is restricted to particular 
purposes. The grants received during the period and the associated expenditure are shown as 
restricted funds in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Capital grants received from the Education and Skills Funding Agency and Liverpool Local 
Authority during the year amounted to £3,607k (2022: £957k). Both academies secured 
Condition Improvement Fund funding from ESFA and The Belvedere Academy was awarded 
funding for an expansion project from Liverpool City Council. In accordance with the Charities 
Statement of Recommended Practice (FRS 102), such grants are shown in the Statement of 
Financial Activities as restricted income in the fixed asset fund. The restricted fixed asset fund 
balance is reduced by annual depreciation over the expected useful life of the assets 
concerned. The depreciation charge for the year on these assets was £1,148k (2022: £982k). 
 
Recurrent grants of £13,828k (2022: £12,692k) were received from the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency, Local Authorities and other Government bodies. An uplift in GAG funding 
level as well as growing pupil numbers generated the increase in income. Expenditure covered 
by these grants amounted to £13,757k (2022: £13,186k) due to rising staff costs and building 
running costs. Such grants and expenditure are shown in the restricted general fund in the 
Statement of Financial Activities. The primary cost incurred were direct staff costs of £9,836k 
(2022: £9,249k) which enabled the Academy Trust in delivering an outstanding education to 
all pupils.  
 
Unrestricted income and expenditure in the period amounted to £1,050k (2022: £955k) and 
£1,041k (2022: £954k) respectively. The catering revenue stream has been impacted by higher 
food and staff costs. 
 
The in-year surplus (excluding the pension reserve movement) amounted to £378k (2022: 
£317k). The Academy Trust continued to receive the Recovery Premium grant that will 
continue until 2023/24 and benefitted significantly from the additional MSAG grant that came 
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into effect from 1 April 2023.  Unrestricted income usually generates a significant surplus 
however rising food and wage costs have impacted the contribution from the catering 
revenue stream.  
 
Free Reserves (total of restricted general funds (excluding the defined benefit pension liability) 
and unrestricted general funds) at the end of the period amounted to £1,224k (2022: 
£1,151k).   
 
At 31 August 2023 the net book value of fixed assets was £35,716k (2022: £32,986k) and 
movements in fixed assets are shown in Note 11 to the financial statements. The cost of 
fixed asset additions in the year amounted to £3,877k (2022: £1,111k). Various building 
works funded by successful Condition Improvement Fund bids took place, two of which were 
ongoing at year end and a new building under construction, funded by Liverpool City 
Council. 
 
At 31 August 2023, the defined benefit pension liability was £407k (2022: £1,208k). 
Movements are shown in Note 23 to the financial statements. The actuarial gain on the 
pension scheme in the year amounted to £897k (2022: £4,687k), driven by an increase in the 
discount rate for scheme liabilities. 
 
Reserves policy 
The Academy Trust Board reviews the level of reserves annually. This review encompasses the 
nature of income and expenditure streams, the need to match income with commitments and 
the nature of the reserves. It is the trustees’ policy to maintain a minimum level of reserves  
of £650,000 and to build up free reserves and restricted general funds which can be used for 
future education purposes and essential building maintenance in line with each academy’s 
development plan. The trustees will ensure that the reserves policy continues to conform to 
the requirements laid down in the Academy Trust Handbook produced by the DfE.  
 
The total funds held at 31 August 2023 was £37,030k (2022: £33,392k). Restricted funds 
amounted to £35,049k (2022: £31,420k).  
 
Having taken account of the risks to which the Trust is exposed, as detailed on page 16; the 
trustees consider the current level of general fund reserves (unrestricted general fund and 
restricted general funds (excluding the defined benefit pension liability)) of £1,224k (2022: 
£1,151k) to be appropriate considering the majority of income received is in recurring 
government funding received on a monthly basis.  
 
Section 3.10.1 of the Academy Trust Handbook removed the previous limits on the amount of 
General Annual Grant that may be carried forward for eligible academies (eligible academies 
being those that have moved to census based pupil number funding). Both Belvedere and 
Birkenhead Academy meet this criteria and hence the Academy Trust is not subject to a limit 
on the amount to GAG that can be carried forward, thus allowing the trustees to ensure that 
adequate reserves may be built up.  
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The Restricted Fixed Asset Fund may only be realised by disposing of tangible fixed assets. The 
balance at 31 August 2023 was £36,213k. 
 
In accordance with FRS 102 it is necessary to charge projected pension scheme deficits to 
the Restricted General Fund for those pension schemes where the assets and liabilities of 
the scheme can be separately identified. This has resulted in an increase in restricted 
reserves of £790,000 in respect of the Local Government Pension Scheme and £11,000 from 
the GDST Defined Benefits Pension Scheme.  The deficit position of the pension scheme as 
calculated from a triennial valuation would generally result in a cash flow effect for the 
academy trust in the form of an increase or decrease in employers’ pension contributions 
over a period of years. It should be noted that this is an accounting estimate of a long-term 
liability which has not crystallised and has no immediate impact on the Academy Trust’s 
liquidity.  
 
Investment Policy 
The trustees have authorised the use of short term deposit accounts and notice deposit 
accounts in respect of cash held which is surplus to immediate requirements. The next review 
is due in March 2024. 
 
Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The trustees are responsible for the management of the risks to which the Academy Trust is 
exposed. The ATB Finance, Audit and Risk committee reviews the Academy Trust’s risk 
management policies and procedures. Trustees are assisted in this task by the Local Governing 
Bodies, the Senior Leadership Teams of the academies and the specialist Health and Safety 
and Human Resource advisors at the Girls’ Day School Trust (the main sponsor).  The Head of 
Internal Audit at the Girls’ Day School Trust also assists the Trustees in assessing risks the 
Academy Trust may be exposed to. 
 
The Trust’s risk management procedures have been reviewed during the year and the 
trustees are satisfied that the major risks identified have been considered by the trustees 
and processes have been established to manage those risks where necessary.  As a result of 
their risk assessment, the trustees consider that the key risks facing the Trust continue to be: 

- Staffing – engagement, retention and recruitment difficulties leads to a decline in 
the quality of teaching and staff morale. 
Staff wellbeing is high on the agenda with various staff wellbeing initiatives and 
robust Return to Work procedures to support staff returning from sickness absence. 
Succession planning for key posts at SLT and Middle Management level with a strong 
internal pipeline developed through a strong programme of CPD and investment in 
people. The Academy Trust maintains a competitive salary structure at least in line 
with the wider sector to retain and attract staff. 

- Long term funding from ESFA not sufficient to support the required Academies 
offer, meet the unfunded teachers’ pay rise and also to cover the rising energy cost. 
The Academies produce three-year budgets which are reviewed in detail by the ATB. 
Changes in funding are likely to be publicised well in advance and be accompanied by 
transitional arrangements. The Academy Trust is able to allocate financial resources 
to the areas of greatest need. 
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- Academies’ Sixth Forms undersubscribed in the long term – impacting on results 
and finances. Retention of pupils is a key focus for the Academies as well as 
recruiting externally. Open events are held and regular curriculum reviews take place 
to ensure the offer remains attractive. Investment in Sixth Form facilities occurs 
when funds allow. 

- The Academy Trust may have pension scheme commitments that it is unable to 
meet. The Academy Trust is able to meet its known annual deficit contribution 
commitments for the foreseeable future. 

- A serious safeguarding episode unfolds which causes harm to one or more pupils 
leading to regulatory action and reputational damage. Robust policies and 
procedures are in place to prevent such matters and a safeguarding audit 
programme is in place. 

- Cyber security vulnerabilities lead to attack, damage or unauthorised access to 
systems and data. A Cyber Security Programme is in place to assess existing security 
standards and to mitigate risks.  

- Insufficient cash held to pay suppliers and staff wages. Forward financial planning of 
cash flow and liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and 
interest bearing deposits held in flexible accounts. 
 

The strategies employed to manage these risks include the regular review of long term 
financial forecasts and actuarial valuations of the pension schemes allowing adequate time 
for appropriate action to be taken. 
 
Going Concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the ATB has a reasonable expectation that the Academy 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval of these 
financial statements.   
Three year forecasts to 2025/26 have been prepared by each Academy and approved by the 
ATB following scrutiny by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. The forecasts assume that 
both schools remain at full capacity up to Year 12, the GAG funding rises by 2% in 2024/25 
and a large increase in energy costs occurs once the current contract ends. Sensitivity analysis 
focusing on these assumptions has been performed to demonstrate different financial 
scenarios should the amount of funding decline or there be a decrease in pupil numbers 
particularly in the Sixth Form which would reduce the level of 16-19 income. The impact of 
rising, partly-funded pay costs has also been considered by modelling the potential impact of 
increased pay rises. Results indicate that even in a worst-case scenario, in the event there is 
no uplift in GAG funding or if there was a dip in pupil numbers, the Academy Trust has 
sufficient cash resources and general fund reserves to continue for at least 12 months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements.  
 
Suppliers 
Maintaining good relationships with suppliers remains critical to the Academy Trust’s own 
performance. Robust processes are in place to ensure settlement of invoices occurs within 
terms in place.  
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Fundraising 
The Academy Trust held some small fundraising events during the year including non-
uniform days and cake sales. The Academy Trust does not work with professional fundraisers 
or companies who carry out fundraising on its behalf. All fundraising undertaken during the 
year was monitored by the Trustees. During the year no complaints or issues have arisen as 
a result of the fundraising events. 
 
Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting 
 

UK Greenhouse gas emissions and energy use 
data for the period  

1 September 2022 
to 31 August 2023 

1 September 
2021 to 31 
August 2022 

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions 
(kWh) 

3,236,663 3,389,176 

Energy consumption break down (kWh) 
• gas, 
• electricity 
 

 
2,378,911 
   857,752 

 
2,511,843 
   877,333 
 

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Gas consumption 
Owned transport – mini-buses 
Total scope 1 

 
434.29 
     0.54 
434.83 

 
458.51 
0 
458.51 

Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Purchased electricity 

 
177.62 

 
169.66 

Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 
Business travel in employee owned vehicles 

 
 0.90 

 
0.00 

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 613.35 628.17 

Intensity ratio 
Tonnes CO2e per pupil 

 
0.27 

 
0.28 

 
Quantification and Reporting Methodology:- 
• We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines. We 
have also used the GHG Reporting Protocol – Corporate Standard and have used the 2023 
UK Government’s Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. 
 
Intensity measurement 
The chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metric tonnes CO2e per 
pupil, the recommended ratio for the sector. 
 
Measures taken to improve energy efficiency 
We have installed smart meters across all sites and replaced the ageing heating system at 
one of the academies with a more efficient system. In addition, the electricity purchased by 
the Academy Trust is renewably sourced. 
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PLANS FOR FUTURE PERIODS  
 

Following a detailed and extensive review of the academies’ cost bases and potential 
additional areas for income generation, the 2023/24 budgets have been approved by the 
trustees at an in year surplus of £20,000 for BHSA and £10,000 for Belvedere.   
 
The main overall objective for both academies is to maintain at least a good OFSTED rating 
and in order to achieve this, the key priorities for future periods have been identified as 
follows: 
 
Birkenhead High School Academy 
 
- to provide consistently outstanding teaching across the academy 
- to monitor progress throughout the school for all students but particularly for identified 

cohorts such as vulnerable groups and high achievers 
- to achieve outstanding behaviour for learning via a review of the behaviour awards 

system and ongoing training for staff 
- development of student leadership opportunities 
- maintain financial and operational efficiency in the current difficult funding climate by 

exploring every initiative for additional income generation and cost reduction. 
 
Belvedere Academy 
 
- to continue developments in the areas of curriculum, assessment and teaching and 

learning 
- to enhance staff development by ongoing review of staffing structures and the provision 

of appropriate training programmes  
- the continued promotion of safeguarding and wellbeing for both students and staff 
-  the management and development of the academy’s resources in terms of ensuring 

financial stability, making the most effective use of the school estate and formulation of 
a long term ICT strategy. 

 
The success and progress of these objectives will be monitored by the Trustees through 
review of external reports, internal reports produced by each academy’s leadership teams 
and also financial reports produced by the Finance Directors. 
 
 
ENGAGEMENT WITH EMPLOYEES (INCLUDING DISABLED 
PERSONS) 
Employees have been consulted on issues of concern to them by means of regular 
communication and staff meetings and have been kept informed on specific matters directly 
by management. An annual employee survey is undertaken to capture feedback from staff in 
all roles, the results are reported to the ATB and each academy forms an action plan based on 
the staff voice. 
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The Academy Trust has implemented a number of detailed policies in relation to all aspects of 
personnel matters including: 

• Equal Opportunities Policy 

• Health & Safety Policy 
 
The trustees recognise that equal opportunities should be an integral part of good practice 
within the workplace. The Academy Trust aims to establish equal opportunities in all areas of 
its activities including creating a working environment in which the contribution and needs of 
all people are fully valued. 
 
In accordance with the Academy Trust’s Equal Opportunities Policy, the Academy Trust has 
long established fair employment practices in the recruitment, selection, retention and 
training of disabled staff. 
 

AUDITORS  
 

Statement as to disclosure of information to Auditors 
 
The trustees confirm that so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of 
which the Academy Trust’s auditors are unaware. They have taken all steps that they ought 
to have taken as trustees in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 
and to establish that the Academy Trust’s auditors are aware of that information. 
 
The report of the Trustees, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by the Trustees, as 
the company directors on 12th December2023 and signed on the board’s behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Gary Stewart 
Trustee, Chair of Finance, Audit & Risk Committee 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 

Scope of Responsibility 
The trustees acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for ensuring that the 
Academy Trust has an effective and appropriate system of control, financial and otherwise. 
However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 
The trustees have reviewed and taken account of the guidance in DfE’s Governance 
Handbook and competency framework for governance. 
 
The Academy Trust Board (“ATB”) has delegated the day-to-day responsibility to the 
Principals and Accounting Officer for ensuring financial controls conform with the 
requirements of both propriety and good financial management and are in accordance with 
the requirements and responsibilities assigned to it in the funding agreements between the 
Academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. They are also responsible for 
reporting any material weaknesses or breakdowns in internal control to the ATB. 
 
Governance 
The information on governance included here supplements that described in the Trustees’ 
Report and in the Statement of Trustees’ Responsibilities. The Academy Trust Board has 
formally met three times during the year and the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee has 
met four times. Attendance during the year at meetings was as follows: 
 

Academy Trust Board 
Trustee 

Meetings 
attended 

Out of a  
possible 

Kathy Anstey 2 3 

Jonathan Davis 3 3 

Hilary Ann Ewing  3 3 

Cheryl Giovannoni (Accounting Officer) 3 3 

Judith Simons 3 3 

Kieran O’Sullivan (resigned 27 September 2023) 2 3 

Gary Stewart 2 3 

Anne Mary Hockaday (resigned 19 September 2022) 0 0 

Rachael Radway  3 3 

 
 
 

ATB Finance, Audit and Risk Committee 
Member 

Meetings 
attended 

Out of a  
possible 

Jonathan Davis 4 4 

Gary Stewart 4 4 

Rachael Radway 3 4 
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The Academy Trust Handbook 2022 recommends Trustees meet formally six times a year. 
The Trustees of the Academy Trust met three times and consider this sufficient given the 
Finance, Audit and Risk committee met four times during the year and have members in 
common with the Trustee Board which allows an appropriate level of oversight at Board 
level throughout the year.  
 
Two detailed governance reviews have been carried out in the past five years. The first 
review, finalised in late 2019, was entirely focused on the GDST Academy Trust and 
delivered a number of recommendations, including about the composition of the board and 
the content and structure of meetings. Adjustments were made to the governance 
arrangements in light of the findings identified by the external consultant engaged to 
perform this piece of work; greater use is made of the Finance, Audit & Risk Committee 
therefore freeing up ATB meetings for other strategic considerations. 
In 2020 a separate review was carried out in relation to governance at the GDST as part of 
the Trust’s internal audit plan for that year. Although findings were predominantly made in 
the context of the governance framework for the Trust’s fee-charging schools, it was 
highlighted that there should be a greater degree of information exchanged between the 
wider GDST and the Academy Trust – to ensure that examples of best practice in the running 
of schools was shared across the two environments. This has resulted in greater 
collaboration between the two organisations, specifically at operational level, generating 
efficiencies in working practices for the Academy Trust. 
The next governance review is scheduled to take place in 2024. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
The Academy Trust maintains an up-to-date register of interests to record the interests of 
Trustees, Governors and senior staff members. The Academy Trust operates a Conflicts of 
Interests policy to formally set out the process followed when a Conflict is identified. In the 
case of the provision of services from the Sponsor at cost, Trustees connected to the 
Sponsor are excluded from discussions and the decision-making process to eliminate the 
conflict of interests. 
 
Review of Value for Money 
The Accounting Officer has responsibility for ensuring that the academies deliver good value 
in the use of public resources. The Accounting Officer understands that value for money 
refers to the educational and wider societal outcomes  as well as estates safety and 
management, achieved in return for the taxpayer resources received. 
 
The Accounting Officer considers how the academies’ use of their resources has provided 
good value for money during each academic year and reports to the Academy Trust Board 
where value for money can be improved, including the use of benchmarking data where 
appropriate.  
 
In the current funding climate it is essential that both academies continually review their 
cost bases and potential areas for additional income generation. This exercise enabled both 
academies to set prudent budgets for the 2023/24 financial year and the key strategies used 
to achieve this included:- 
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- Re-structuring of support staff roles and responsibilities. 
- Review of the curriculum offer, particularly at Sixth Form, to improve retention and 

recruitment and to reduce teaching staff requirements. 
- Reducing teachers’ non-contact time. 

 
The Purpose of the System of Internal Control 
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to 
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives. It can therefore only 
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal 
controls is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the 
achievement of Academy Trust policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood of 
those risks being realised and the impact should they be realised and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The system of internal controls has been in place in 
the Academy Trust for the year ended 31 August 2023 and up to the date of the approval of 
the annual report and financial statements.  
 
Capacity to Handle Risk 
The trustees have reviewed the key risks to which the Academy Trust is exposed together 
with the operating, financial and compliance controls that have been implemented to 
mitigate those risks. The trustees are of the view that there is a formal on-going process for 
identifying, evaluating and managing the Academy Trust’s significant risks and that this 
system has been in place for the year ended 31 August 2023 and up to the date of the 
approval of the annual report and financial statements. This process is reviewed regularly by 
the trustees and at every Finance, Audit & Risk committee meeting. 
 
Risk registers are maintained at both Academy Trust level and at individual academy level.  
Academy risk registers are reviewed on a termly basis by the LGBs and the ATB. The 
Academy Trust risk register is reviewed annually by the ATB. 
 
The Risk and Control Framework 
The Academy Trust’s system of internal financial control is based on a framework of regular 
management information and administrative procedures including the segregation of duties 
and a system of delegation and accountability. In particular, it includes: 

- comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems with an annual budget and periodic 
financial reports which are reviewed and agreed by the trustees; 

- regular reviews by the trustees and the LGBs of reports which indicate financial 
performance against the forecasts and of major purchase plans, capital works and 
expenditure programmes; 

- setting targets and key performance indicators to measure financial and other 
   performance; 
- clearly defined purchasing (revenue purchase or capital investment) guidelines; 
- detailed terms of reference for all committees; 
- formal agendas for the ATB, ATB Finance, Audit & Risk Committee and LGB meetings 

(the minutes of the LGB meetings are reviewed by the ATB); 
- delegation of authority and segregation of duties; 
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- formal written polices; 
- policies and procedures required by law to protect the vulnerable; 
- identification and management of risks. 
 

The ATB Finance, Audit and Risk Sub-Committee is responsible for reviewing the Academy 
Trust’s risk management policies and procedures, including those relating to internal financial 
controls and the internal audit work planned to address those risks. The Academy Trust has 
appointed the internal auditor of the Girls’ Day School Trust to carry out a programme of 
internal checks and the Sub-Committee directs the work of the internal auditor to those areas 
of greatest risk. On an annual basis, the internal auditor reports to the ATB (through the 
Finance, Audit and Risk Sub-Committee) on the operation of the systems of control and on 
the discharge of the ATB’s financial responsibilities. The internal audit carried out in the year 
ended 31 August 2023 was delivered as planned and did not identify any material control 
issues. 
 
Review of Effectiveness 
The Academy Trust consists of two academies.  The values and aspirations for the academies  
are wholly aligned with those for the rest of the GDST network of schools.  The Accounting 
Officer, who is also Chief Executive Officer of the GDST, takes senior executive responsibility 
for the academies, including line management of the respective principals. 
 
The Accounting Officer has responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of 
internal control. During the year in question, the review has been informed by: 
 

- the work of the ATB Finance, Audit and Risk Sub-Committee and internal audit 
function; 

- the work of the external auditor; 
- the financial management and governance self- assessment process; 
- the work of the executive managers within the Academy Trust who have responsibility 

for the development and maintenance of the internal control framework. 
 

The Accounting Officer has been advised of the implications of the result of their review of 
the system of internal control by the ATB Finance, Audit and Risk Committee and a plan to 
address any weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the systems is in place. 
 
Approved by order of the trustees on ........................................... and signed on their behalf 
by: 
 
 
 
Gary Stewart 
Trustee, Chair of Finance, Audit & Risk Committee 
 
 
Cheryl Giovannoni 
Accounting Officer 
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STATEMENT of REGULARITY, PROPRIETY and COMPLIANCE 
 
As Accounting Officer of GDST Academy Trust, I have considered my responsibility to notify the 
Academy Trust Board and the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, 
impropriety and non-compliance with ESFA terms and conditions of funding, including for estates 
safety and management, under the funding agreements in place between the Academy Trust and the 
Secretary of State for Education. As part of my consideration I have had due regard to the 
requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook 2022, including responsibilities for estates safety and 
management.  
 
I confirm that I and the Academy Trust Board are able to identify any material irregular or improper 
use of funds by the Academy Trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of 
funding under the Academy Trust’s funding agreements and the Academy Trust Handbook 2022.  
 
I confirm that the following instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance 
discovered to date have been notified to the board of trustees and ESFA. If any instances are 
identified after the date of this statement, these will be notified to the board of trustees and ESFA. 
 
 
 
 
Cheryl  Giovannoni 
Accounting Officer 
Date:    
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
The trustees (who are also directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company 
law) are responsible for preparing the Trustees’ Annual Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction published by the Educations & Skills 
Funding Agency, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice) and applicable law and regulations. 
 
Company law requires the trustees to prepare financial statements for each financial year. 
Under company law, the trustees must not approve the financial statements unless they are 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitable company 
and of its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and 
expenditure, for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the trustees are required 
to: 

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 

• observe the methods and principles in the Charities SORP 2019 and the 
Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023; 

 

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject 
to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the charitable company will continue in 
business. 

 
The trustees are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to 
show and explain the charitable company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the charitable company and enable them to 
ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charitable company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The trustees are responsible for ensuring that in its conduct and operation the charitable 
company applies financial and other controls, which conform with the requirements both of 
propriety and of good financial management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants 
received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended. 
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STATEMENT OF TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
The trustees are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial 
information included on the charitable company’s website. Legislation in the United 
Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions. 
 
Approved by order of the members of the board of trustees on ........................................... 
and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
Gary Stewart 
Trustee, Chair of Finance, Audit & Risk Committee 
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Independent auditor's report to the members of GDST Academy Trust 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of GDST Academy Trust (the ‘charitable company’) for the year ended 

31 August 2023, which comprise the Statement of financial activities (including the income and expenditure 

account), the Balance sheet, the Statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their 

preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 

102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally 

Accepted Accounting Practice), the Charities SORP and the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued 

by the Education & Skills Funding Agency. 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the charitable company's affairs as at 31 August 2023 and of its 

surplus and its incoming resources and application of resources, including its income and expenditure, 

for the year then ended; 

 

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice; 

 

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and 

 

• have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP and the Academies Accounts Direction 

2022 to 2023. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 

law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 

of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the charitable company in accordance 

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the 

FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 

requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern  

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 

conditions that may cast significant doubt on the charitable company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 

we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related 

disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the charitable company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
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In our evaluation of the trustees’ conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated with the charitable 

company’s business model including effects arising from macro-economic uncertainties such as the cost of living 

crisis, we assessed and challenged the reasonableness of estimates made by the trustees and the related 

disclosures and analysed how those risks might affect the charitable company’s financial resources or ability to 

continue operations over the going concern period.   

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the trustees’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the charitable company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the trustees with respect to going concern are described in the 

relevant sections of this report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Annual Report and Financial Statements, other 

than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The trustees are responsible for the other 

information contained within the Annual Report and Financial Statements. Our opinion on the financial statements 

does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not 

express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 

to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 

required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based 

on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 

are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the trustees’ report, prepared for the purposes of 

company law, included in the Annual Report and Financial Statements for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

 

• the strategic report and the trustees’ report included within Annual Report and Financial Statements 

have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. 

Matter on which we are required to report under the Companies Act 2006 

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the charitable company and its environment obtained in the 

course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the trustees’ report 

included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements. 
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 

requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been 

received from branches not visited by us; or 

 

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

 

• certain disclosures of the trustees’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

Responsibilities of trustees 

As explained more fully in the statement of trustees’ responsibilities set out on page 26, the trustees (who are 

also the directors of the charitable company for the purposes of company law) are responsible for the preparation 

of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control 

as the trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the trustees are responsible for assessing the charitable company’s ability 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless the trustees either intend to liquidate the charitable company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 

statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. The extent to which our 

procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 

charitable company and the sector in which it operates. We determined that the following laws and 

regulations were most significant: the Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023, Academies Financial 

Handbook 2022, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland 

(FRS 102), Charities SORP (FRS 102), the Companies Act 2006, Charities Act 2011, Academies Act 

2010, Data protection Act 2018 and The Education Act 2002;  

 

• We understood how the charitable company is complying with these legal and regulatory frameworks by 

making inquiries of management and those charged with governance. We enquired of management and 
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those charged with governance whether there were any instances of non-compliance with laws and 

regulations, or whether they had any knowledge of actual or suspected fraud. We corroborated the 

results of our enquiries through our review of board minutes and through our legal and professional 

expenses review; 

 

• We assessed the susceptibility of the charitable company’s financial statements to material 

misstatement, including how fraud might occur and the risk of material override of controls. Audit 

procedures performed by the engagement team included: 

 

    - Identifying and assessing the design effectiveness of certain controls management has in place to 

prevent and detect fraud 

 

- Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant accounting policies 

 

- Identifying and testing journal entries, with a focus on manual postings, journals that directly impacted 

on the surplus reported in the statement of financial activities and journal entries posted in the closing 

and accounts preparation period 

 

- Identifying and testing related party transactions  

 

- Inspecting the board and other committee minutes  

 

- Assessing the extent of compliance with the relevant laws and regulations as part of our procedures on 

the related financial statement item  

 

• These audit procedures were designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were 

free from fraud or error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of 

not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is inherently more 

difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve collusion, deliberate concealment, 

forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 

is from events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of 

it;  

 

• Assessment of the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the engagement team 

included consideration of the engagement team's. 

 

- understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and complexity 

through appropriate training and participation 

 

- knowledge of the education sector 

 - understanding of the legal and regulatory requirements specific to the charitable company including: 

- the provisions of the applicable legislation 

    -guidance issued by the ESFA and Charities Commission. 
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• The team communications in respect of potential non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations, 

including the potential for fraud in revenue through manipulation of income and management override of 

controls; and 

• In assessing the potential risks of material misstatement, we obtained an understanding of: 

 

- the charitable company’s operations, including the nature of its income and expenditure and its services 

and of its objectives and strategies to understand the classes of transactions, account balances, 

expected financial statement disclosures and business risks that may result in risks of material 

misstatement. 

 

- the charitable company's control environment, including: the policies and procedures implemented by the 

charitable company to ensure compliance with the requirements of the financial reporting framework and 

relevant laws and regulations. 

 

-      the policies and procedures implemented by the charitable company to ensure compliance with the 

requirements of the financial reporting framework and relevant laws and regulations 

    -     the adequacy of procedures for authorisation of transactions and review of management accounts 

    -     procedures to ensure that possible breaches of laws and regulations are appropriately resolved. 

 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 

Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s 

report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the charitable company's trustees, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 

16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the charitable 

company's trustees those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. 

To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 

charitable company and the charitable company’s trustees as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the 

opinions we have formed. 

 

 

 

 

James Bird 

Senior Statutory Auditor 

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 

London 

 

Date: 
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In accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 21 August 2023 and further to the requirements of 

the Education & Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) as included in the extant Framework and Guide for External 

Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy Trusts, we have carried out an engagement to obtain limited 

assurance about whether the expenditure disbursed and income received by GDST Academy Trust** during the 

period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 have been applied to the purposes identified by Parliament and the 

financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Respective responsibilities of GDST Academy Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant 

The accounting officer is responsible, under the requirements of GDST Academy Trust’s funding agreement with 

the Secretary of State for Education dated July 2014 and the Academy Trust Handbook, extant from 1 September 

2022, for ensuring that expenditure disbursed and income received is applied for the purposes intended by 

Parliament and the financial transactions conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are established in the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical 

guidance and are to obtain limited assurance and report in accordance with our engagement letter and the 

requirements of the extant Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting Accountants of Academy 

Trusts. We report to you whether anything has come to our attention in carrying out our work which suggests that 

in all material respects, expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2022 to 31 

August 2023 have not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament or that the financial transactions do not 

conform to the authorities which govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Framework and Guide for External Auditors and Reporting 

Accountants of Academy Trusts issued by ESFA. We performed a limited assurance engagement as defined in 

our engagement letter. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and 

explanations in order to provide us with sufficient appropriate evidence to express a negative conclusion on 

regularity. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope than a reasonable assurance engagement and 

consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that 

might be identified in a reasonable assurance engagement.  Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the 

academy trust’s income and expenditure. 

The work undertaken to draw our conclusion includes: 

• an assessment of the risk of material irregularity and impropriety across GDST Academy Trust’s 

activities; 

• evaluation of the processes and controls established and maintained in respect of regularity, propriety 

and compliance of the use of public funds through observation and testing of the arrangements in place 

and enquiry of the Accounting Officer;  

• consideration and corroboration of the evidence supporting the Accounting Officer's statement on 

regularity, propriety and compliance; and 

• testing a sample of income and expenditure transactions, increasing the extent of this testing for those 

areas identified as high risk. 
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Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggests that in all material respects the 

expenditure disbursed and income received during the period 1 September 2022 to 31 August 2023 have not 

been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities 

which govern them. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to GDST Academy Trust and ESFA in accordance with the terms of our engagement 

letter. Our work has been undertaken so that we might state to GDST Academy Trust and ESFA those matters 

we are required to state to them in a report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do 

not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than GDST Academy Trust and ESFA, for our work, for this 

report, or for the conclusion we have formed. 

  

  

  

  

  

Reporting Accountant 

Grant Thornton UK LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

London 

Date: 
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The notes on pages 38 to 71 form part of these financial statements 

 

 
 

Note 
Unrestricted 

funds 

Restricted 
general 

funds 

Restricted 
fixed asset 

funds 
2023 
Total 

2022 
Total 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Income       
Donations and capital grants 2 63 2 3,607 3,672 513 
Other trading activities 3 910 - - 910 882 
Investment income 4 33 - - 33 2 
Income from charitable activities       
Funding for the academies' 
educational operations 5 44 13,964 - 14,008 13,417 

       

Total incoming resources  1,050 13,966 3,607 18,623 14,814 

       
Expenditure on:       
Raising funds 6 1,041 - - 1,041 954 
Charitable activities:       

Academies' educational operations 7 - 13,693 1,148 14,841 14,168 

       

Total   1,041 13,693 1,148 15,882 15,122 

       
Net income/(expenditure)  9 273 2,459 2,741 (308) 
Transfers between funds 14 - (304) 304 - - 
Other recognised gains:       
Actuarial gains on defined benefit 
pension schemes 23 - 897 - 897 4,687 

Net movement in funds  9 866 2,763 3,638 4,379 
       
Reconciliation of funds       

Total funds brought forward  14 1,972 (2,030) 33,450 33,392 29,013 

Total funds carried forward   1,981 (1,164) 36,213 37,030 33,392 

   
All of the Academy Trust’s activities derived from continuing operations during the above two financial periods. 
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 2023 2023 2022 2022 
  Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Fixed assets       
Tangible assets   11  35,716  32,986 
 

Current assets      
Debtors 12 1,772  1,111  

Cash at bank  3,045  3,020  
  4,817  4,131  
Liabilities      
Creditors: amounts falling due within 
one year 13 (3,096)  (2,517)  
 

Net current assets   1,721  1,614 

      
Total assets less current liabilities 37,437  34,600 
 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 23  (407)  (1,208) 
 

Total net assets   37,030  33,392 
 

Funds of the Academy Trust      
 

Restricted funds:      
   Fixed asset funds 14 36,213  33,450  
   General funds 14 (757)  (822)  
   Pension reserve 14 (407)  (1,208)  

Total restricted funds   35,049  31,420 
Unrestricted funds:      
   General funds 14 1,981  1,972  

Total unrestricted funds   1,981  1,972 

      

Total funds   37,030  33,392 

 
The financial statements were approved by the Trustees, and authorised for issue on 12th 
December 2023 and are signed on their behalf, by: 
 
 
 
Gary Stewart 
Trustee, Chair of Finance, Audit & Risk 
Committee 
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 Note 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 18 262 (91) 
    
Cash flows used in investing activities 19 (237) (135) 
    
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the reporting 
period  25 (226) 

    
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

  

  

 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 2022  3,020 3,246 

    

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2023 20 3,045 3,020 
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1 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The Academy Trust is a company limited by guarantee (No. 06000347) incorporated in 
England and Wales and is an exempt charity. The registered office is 10 Bressenden Place, 
London, SW1E 5DH. The principal objective of the Academy Trust is to advance education 
for the public benefit, by establishing, maintaining, operating and developing schools, 
including but not limited to academies. 
 
A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied 
consistently, except where noted), judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty is 
set out below. 
 

Basis of preparation 
The financial statements of the Academy Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 
102, have been prepared under the historical cost convention in accordance with the 
Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the 
Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to 
charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP (FRS 102)), the 
Academies Accounts Direction 2022 to 2023 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 
The financial statements are presented in Sterling (£). 

Going concern 
After making appropriate enquiries, the ATB has a reasonable expectation that the Academy 
Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future, being a period of not less than 12 months from the date of approval of these 
financial statements.   
Three year forecasts to 2025/26 have been prepared by each Academy and approved by the 
ATB following scrutiny by the Finance, Audit and Risk Committee. The forecasts assume that 
both schools remain at full capacity up to Year 12, the GAG funding rises by 2% in 2024/25 
and a large increase in energy costs occurs once the current contract ends. Sensitivity analysis 
focusing on these assumptions has been performed to demonstrate different financial 
scenarios should the amount of funding decline or there be a decrease in pupil numbers 
particularly in the Sixth Form which would reduce the level of 16-19 income. The impact of 
rising, partly-funded pay costs has also been considered by modelling the potential impact of 
increased pay rises. Results indicate that even in a worst-case scenario, in the event there is 
no uplift in GAG funding or if there was a dip in pupil numbers, the Academy Trust has 
sufficient cash resources and general fund reserves to continue for at least 12 months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements.  
 

Income 
All incoming resources are recognised when the Academy Trust has entitlement to the funds, 
the receipt is probable and the amount can be measured reliably.  
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Grants  
Grants are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance 
of income received for specific purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the 
relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where income is received in advance of meeting any 
performance-related conditions and there is not unconditional entitlement to the income, its 
recognition is deferred and included in creditors as deferred income until the performance-
related conditions are met. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income 
is accrued. 

General Annual Grant is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year 
for which it is receivable. 

Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and not deferred over the life of the 
asset on which they are expended. Unspent amounts of capital grant are reflected in the 
balance sheet in the restricted fixed asset fund. 
 
Sponsorship income 
The value of sponsorship provided to the Academy Trust is recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Activities in the period in which it is receivable, (where there are no performance 
related conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount can be measured reliably. 
 
Donations 
Donations are included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis (where 
there are no performance related conditions) where the receipt is probable and the amount 
can be measured reliably. 
 
Other Income 
Other income is recognised in the period in which it is receivable and to the extent that the 
goods have been provided or on completion of the service. 
 
Donated services and gifts in kind 
Goods donated for resale are included at fair value, being the expected proceeds from 
sale less the expected costs of sale. If it is practical to assess the fair value at receipt, it is 
recognised in stock and ‘Income from other trading activities’. Upon sale, the value of the 
stock is charged against ‘Income from other trading activities’ and the proceeds are 
recognised as ‘Income from other trading activities’. Where it is impractical to fair value 
the items due to the volume of low value items they are not recognised in the financial 
statements until they are sold.  This income is recognised within ‘Income from other 
trading activities’.  
 
Where the donated good is a fixed asset, it is measured at fair value, unless it is 
impractical to measure this reliably, in which case the cost of the item to the donor 
should be used. The gain is recognised as income from donations and a corresponding 
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amount is included in the appropriate fixed asset category and depreciated over the 
useful economic life in accordance with the Academy's accounting policies. 
 
 
Interest receivable 
Interest receivable is included within the statement of financial activities on a receivable basis. 
 
Expenditure 
Expenditure is recognised once there is a legal or constructive obligation to transfer economic 
benefit to a third party, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required in 
settlement and the amount of the obligation can be measured reliably. Expenditure is 
classified by activity. The costs of each activity are made up of the total of direct costs and 
shared costs, including support costs involved in undertaking each activity. Direct costs 
attributable to a single activity are allocated directly to that activity. Shared costs which 
contribute to more than one activity and support costs which are not attributable to a single 
activity are apportioned between those activities on a basis consistent with the use of 
resources.  

• Expenditure on Raising Funds 
This includes all expenditure incurred by the Academy Trust to raise funds for its charitable 
purposes and includes costs of all fundraising activities events and non-charitable trading. 
 

• Charitable Activities 
These are costs incurred on the Academy Trust’s educational operations, including 
support costs and costs relating to the governance of the Academy Trust apportioned to 
charitable activities. 
 
All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 

Tangible fixed assets 
Tangible fixed assets acquired since the Academy Trust was established are included in the 
accounts at cost.  All assets costing more than £1,000 and with an expected useful life 
exceeding one year are capitalised. Fixed assets donated by third parties are recognised as 
income at their fair value in the period in which the Academy Trust has entitlement to the 
incoming resources, where the benefit to the Academy Trust can be reliably measured and 
where any performance related conditions have been fully met. 
 
Depreciation 
Depreciation is charged on a straight line basis beginning in the year in which the asset is 
brought into use at the following annual rates: 
 
Leasehold buildings and improvements 2% p.a. 
Leasehold building refurbishments  10% p.a. 
Furniture, fittings and equipment  25% p.a. 
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Computer equipment    25% p.a. 
Motor vehicles    25% p.a. 
 
Where fixed assets have been acquired with the aid of specific grants or donations, they are 
included in the balance sheet at cost or valuation and are depreciated over their expected 
useful economic life.  The related grants are credited to a restricted fixed asset fund (in the 
Statement of Financial Activities and carried forward in the balance sheet). The depreciation 
on such assets is charged in the Statement of Financial Activities over the expected useful 
economic life of the related asset on a basis consistent with the depreciation policy. 
 
Assets in the course of construction are included at cost.  Depreciation on these assets is not 
charged until they are brought into use. Fixed assets donated by third parties are recognised 
as income at their fair value in the period in which the Academy Trust has entitlement to the 
incoming resources, where the benefit to the Academy Trust can be reliably measured and 
where any performance related conditions have been fully met. 
 
A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value of any fixed asset may not be recoverable. Shortfalls between 
the carrying value of fixed assets and their recoverable amounts are recognised as 
impairments. Impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities. 

 
Liabilities 
Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required in 
settlement, and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are 
recognised at the amount that the Academy Trust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt 
or the amount it has received as advanced payments for the goods or services it must 
provide. 
 
Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Academy Trust has an obligation at the reporting date 
as a result of a past event which it is probable will result in the transfer of economic 
benefits and the obligation can be estimated reliably.  
 
Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the 
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the provision is based 
on the present value of those amounts, discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects the risks specific to the liability.  The unwinding of the discount is recognised within 
interest payable and similar charges. 
 
 
Taxation 
The Academy Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the 
Finance Act 2010 and therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK 
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corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the Academy Trust is potentially exempt from 
taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by 
Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively 
to charitable purposes. 
 
Leased assets 
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of 
ownership remain with the lessor are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities on a 
straight line basis over the lease term. 
 
Agency arrangements 
The Academy Trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 Bursary funds from ESFA. 
Payments received from ESFA and subsequent disbursements to students are excluded 
from the Statement of Financial Activities as the Academy Trust does not have control over 
the charitable application of the funds. The funds received and paid and any balances held 
are disclosed in note 27. 
 
Pensions 
Academy Trust staff are members of three pension schemes, all of which are defined 
benefit schemes. More details of the schemes are given in note 23. 
 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contributions are calculated so as to spread the cost of 
pensions over employees’ working lives with the academy trust in such a way that the 
pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable payroll. 
The contributions are determined by the Government Actuary on the basis of quadrennial 
valuations using a prospective unit credit method. As stated in note 23, the TPS is a multi-
employer scheme and there is insufficient information available to use defined benefit 
accounting. The TPS is therefore treated as a defined contribution scheme for accounting 
purposes and the contributions recognised in the period to which they relate. 
 
The LGPS and the GDST Defined Benefit Scheme are funded schemes and the assets are held 
separately from those of the Academy Trust in separate trustee administered funds. Pension 
scheme assets are measured at fair value and liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis 
using the projected unit credit method and discounted at a rate equivalent to the current rate 
of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent term and currency to the liabilities. 
The actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance 
sheet date. The amounts charged to operating surplus are the current service costs and the 
costs of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settlements and curtailments.  They are 
included as part of staff costs as incurred. Net interest on the net defined benefit 
liability/asset is also recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities and comprises the 
interest cost on the defined benefit obligation and interest income on the scheme assets, 
calculated by multiplying the fair value of the scheme assets at the beginning of the period by 
the rate used to discount the benefit obligations.  The difference between the interest income 
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on the scheme assets and the actual return on the scheme assets is recognised in other 
recognised gains and losses. 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 

Fund Accounting 
Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting 
any of the charitable objects of the academy trust at the discretion of the trustees. 
 
Restricted fixed asset funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes 
imposed by funders where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose. 

Restricted general funds comprise all other restricted funds received with restrictions 
imposed by the funder/donor and include grants from the ESFA/DfE. 

Financial instruments 
The Academy Trust only holds basic financial statements as defined in FRS102. The financial 
assets and financial liabilities of the academy trust and their measurement basis are as 
follows: 
 
Financial assets – trade and other debtors are basic financial statements and are debt 
instruments measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 12. Prepayments are not financial 
instruments. Amounts due to Girl’s Day School Trust are held at face value less any 
impairment. 
 
Cash at bank – is classified as a basic financial instrument and is measured at fair value. 
 
Financial liabilities – trade creditors and other creditors are financial instruments, and are 
measured at amortised cost as detailed in note 13. Taxation and social security are not 
included in the financial instruments disclosure definition. Deferred income is not deemed to 
be a financial liability, as the cash settlement has already taken place and there is an obligation 
to deliver services rather than cash or another financial instrument. Amounts due to Girl’s 
Day School Trust are held at face value less any impairment. 
 

Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. 
 
 
Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 
The Academy Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting 
accounting estimates and assumptions will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
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adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
 
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme and GDST pension scheme 
defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial 
basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost 
(income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which 
are disclosed in note 23, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. 
Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects results from the latest full actuarial 
valuation performed at 31 March 2022 has been used by the actuary in valuing the pensions 
liability at 31 August 2023. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll 
forward approach and a full actuarial valuation would impact on the carrying amount of the 
pension liability. 
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2 DONATIONS AND CAPITAL GRANTS 
 

 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 Funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
       
Other capital 
donation - 2,131 2,131 - 460 460 
ESFA capital grant - 1,476 1,476 - 18 18 
Sponsor revenue 
donation 55 - 55 32 - 32 

Other donations  8 2 10 3 - 3 

       

 63 3,609 3,672 35 478 513 

 
3 OTHER TRADING ACTIVITIES 

 

 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 Funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
       
Hire of facilities  184 - 184 178 - 178 
Catering income 563 - 563 510 - 510 
Sundry income 26 - 26 47 - 47 
Transport 
scheme income  137 - 137 147 - 147 

       

 910 - 910 882 - 882 
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4 INVESTMENT INCOME 
 

 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 Funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
       

Short term deposits 33 - 33 2 - 2 

 

 

5 FUNDING FOR THE ACADEMY TRUST'S EDUCATIONAL OPERATIONS 
 

 
Unrestricted 

Funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 Funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
DfE/EFA revenue grants      
General Annual 
Grant (GAG)  - 11,958 11,958 - 11,369 11,369 
Capital grant - - - - 498 498 
Pupil premium - 561 561 - 514 514 
UIFSM - 63 63 - 59 59 
Other DfE grants - 709 709 - 400 400 

  -   -   

 - 13,291 13,291 - 12,840 12,840 

       

Other Government grants       
Other Government 
grants - 537 537 - 350 350 

 - 537 537 - 350 350 

       
COVID-19 Additional                                          

Funding (DfE/ESFA)       
Other DfE/ESFA 
COVID-19 funding - 17 17 - 62 62 

 - 17 17 - 62 62 

 
       
Other income from 
the Academy 44 119 163 36 130 166 

Trust's educational 
operations 44 119 163 36 130 166 

 44 13,964 14,008 36 13,381 13,417 
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6 EXPENDITURE 
  Non pay expenditure   

 Staff costs Premises 
Other 
Costs 

2023 
Total 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
      
Costs of activities for 
generating funds 408 - 633 1,041 954 

 408 - 633 1,041 954 

Academy's educational 
operations   

 
  

  Direct costs 9,836 638 674 11,148 10,416 
  Allocated support costs 1,739 1,372 582 3,693 3,752 

 11,575 2,010 1,256 14,841 14,168 

 11,983 2,010 1,889 15,882 15,122 

 
 
Net income/(expenditure) for the year includes: 
 
  2023 2022 
  £'000 £'000 
    
Depreciation  1,085 982 
Operating lease rentals  29 29 
Fees payable to auditor    
- Audit 
- Other services 

 32 
4 

27 
- 

    

 
7 CHARITABLE ACTIVITIES 

 
Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Teaching and educational  
support staff costs                         - 9,836 9,836 - 9,249 9,249 
Depreciation - 638 638 - 488 488 
Educational 
supplies - 413 413 - 461 461 
Examination fees - 197 197 - 157 157 
Staff development - 25 25 - 24 24 
Other direct costs - 39 39 - 37 37 

Total - 11,148 11,148 - 10,416 10,416 
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Unrestricted 

funds 
Restricted 

 funds 
2023 
Total 

Unrestricted 
funds 

Restricted 
 funds 

2022 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Analysis of support 
costs 

  
 

  
 

Support staff costs - 1,739 1,739 - 1,909 1,909 
Depreciation - 510 510 - 494 494 
Technology costs - 159 159 - 132 132 
Premises costs - 863 863 - 809 809 
Other support 
costs - 387 387 - 378 378 
Governance costs - 35 35 - 30 30 

 - 3,693 3,693 - 3,752 3,752 

       

Total - 14,841 14,841 - 14,168 14,168 

 
8 STAFF COSTS 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

a.  Staff costs   
Wages and salaries 8,982 8,352 
Social security costs 867 805 

Other pension costs 1,960 2,291 

 11,809 11,448 
   
Supply teacher costs 171 135 

Staff restructuring costs  - 

 11,980 11,583 

   
   

b.  Non-statutory/non-contractual staff severance payments 
Included in staff restructuring costs are non-statutory/non contractual severance 
payments totalling £nil (2022: £nil).  
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c.  Staff numbers 
The average number of persons employed by the Academy Trust during the year was as 
follows: 
 
 2023 2022 
Charitable activities Number Number 
   
Teachers 141 137 
Administration and support 143 134 

Management 14 15 

   

 298 286 
 

   

    
d.  Higher paid staff 
The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs 
and national insurance contributions) exceeded £60,000 was: 
 
 2023 2022 
 Number Number 
   
£60,001 - £70,000 5 8 
£70,001 - £80,000 1 1 
£80,001 - £90,000 2  
£110,001 - £120,000 1 1 
£120,001 - £130,000 - 1 
£130,001 - £140,000 1 - 
   

 
 
e.  Key management personnel  
The key management personnel of the Academy Trust comprise the trustees and the senior 
management teams. The senior management teams comprise the Principals, Vice Principals, 
Assistant Vice Principals, the Finance Directors and Administrative Manager. The total 
amount of employee benefits (including employer pension and National Insurance 
contributions) received by key management personnel for their services to the Academy 
Trust was £1,368,249 (2022: £1,332,741). 
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9 RELATED PARTY EXPENSES, TRUSTEES' AND LOCAL GOVERNORS' REMUNERATION AND 
EXPENSES 
 
The Principals and staff Local Governors only receive remuneration in respect of services 
they provide undertaking the roles of Principal and staff and not in respect of their services 
as Local Governors. The Trustees and Local Governors did not receive any payments from 
the Academy Trust in respect of their roles as Trustees and Local Governors.  The Principals' 
remuneration is shown below. The staff Local Governors are not Trustees and hence their 
remuneration is not disclosed. 

  2023  2022 
  £'000  £'000 
     
Principal – Belvedere Academy  120  115 
Principal – Birkenhead Academy  131  121 

 
The employer’s pension contributions paid in the year were:- 
 

Principal – Belvedere Academy £26,059 (2022: £24,818) 
Principal – Birkenhead Academy £27,618 (2022: £27,397) 

 
The Trustees and Local Governors did not receive any payment or reimbursed expenses 
from the Academy Trust during the year (2022: £Nil). 
 
Related party transactions involving the Trustees are set out in note 24 and 25. 
 
 

10 TRUSTEES', LOCAL GOVERNORS' AND OFFICERS' INSURANCE 
 
In accordance with normal commercial practice the Academy Trust has purchased 
insurances to protect Trustees, Governors and officers from claims arising from negligent 
acts, errors or omissions occurring whilst on Academy Trust business.  The insurance 
provides cover up to £2,000,000 on any one claim and the cost for the year ended 31 August 
2023 was £1,100 (2022: £1,100). The cost of this insurance is included in the total insurance 
cost. 
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11 TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 

 
 

Leasehold 
improvements 

Long 
leasehold 
buildings 

Leasehold 
refurbishments 

 
 

Assets under 
construction 

Educational 
furniture 

and 
equipment 

Motor 
vehicles 

ICT 
equipment 

 
 

Total 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £’000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
         
Cost          
At 1 September  
2022 

26,696 13,530 1,354 416 1,025 12 1,848 44,881 

Additions - - 1,557 2,150 81 - 89 3,877 
Transfers 1,922 - 18 (1,940) - - - - 

Disposals (74) - (5) - (76) - (322) (477) 

At 31 August 2023 28,544 13,530 2,924 626 1,030 12 1,615 48,281 

         
Depreciation         
At 1 September 
2022 

4,887 3,967 438 - 942 9 1,651 11,894 

Provided in the 
year 

545 271 137 - 40 3 89 1,085 

Disposals (11) - (5) - (76) - (322) (414) 

At 31 August 2023 5,421 4,238 570 - 906 12 1,418 12,565 

         
Net book value         
         
At 31 August 2023 23,123 9,292 2,354 626 124 - 197 35,716 

         
At 31 August 2022 21,809 9,563 916 416 83 3 196 32,986 

 
 
 

The Academy Trust’s transactions relating to assets under construction include enabling 
works to an existing area of the academy, along with construction costs for a new classroom 
block. This work is being funded by a grant from Liverpool City Council in connection with 
the increase in PAN and is expected to be completed by Summer 2024. 
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12 DEBTORS 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
ESFA capital grants receivable 164 127 
ESFA other grants receivable 44 41 
Amount due from The Girls' Day School Trust 1 7 
VAT recoverable 671 395 
Trade debtors 62 108 
Other debtors 23 10 
Prepayments and accrued income 807 423 

 1,772 1,111 

   
 

13 CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
Trade creditors 659 374 
Accruals and deferred income 1,238 1,014 
Taxation and social security 317 305 
Amounts due to The Girls' Day School Trust 557 557 
Other creditors 325 267 

 3,096 2,517 

   
 
DEFERRED INCOME 
 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
Deferred income at 1 September 2022 378 189 
Resources deferred in the year 406 374 
Amounts released from previous years (373) (185) 
Deferred income at 31 August 2023 411 378 
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DEFERRED INCOME (continued)  
 
At the balance sheet date the Academy Trust was holding funds received in advance relating 
to: 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
Deferred ESFA capital grants 212 212 
Deferred ESFA Revenue grants 78 68 
Deferred grants for educational projects 86 71 
Funds received in advance for locker hire pupil lunches 16 11 
Sundry 19 16 

 411 378 
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14 FUNDS 
 
       Balance at   Gains, Balance at 
   1 September   losses and 31 August 
                 2022 Income Expenditure transfers 2023 
      
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (829) 11,958 (11,592) (304) (767) 
Other ESFA grants - 1,350 (1,350) - - 
LEA and other grants  - 537 (537) - - 
Other restricted 7 121 (118) - 10 

Pensions reserve (1,208) - (96) 897 (407) 

      

 (2,030) 13,966 (13,693) 593 (1,164) 

Restricted fixed asset 
funds      
DfE/ESFA capital grants 17,644 1,476 (684) - 18,436 
Private sector capital 
sponsorship 1,114 33 (10) - 1,137 
Capital expenditure from 
GAG 316 - (34) 304 586 
Local Authority capital 
grants 4,504 2,098 (122) - 6,480 
Private sector long 
leasehold grant 9,776 - (296) - 9,480 
Other government grants  96 - (2) - 94 

       

 33,450 3,607 (1,148) 304 36,213 

      
      

Total restricted funds 31,420 17,573 (14,841) 897 35,049 

      

Unrestricted funds 1,972 1,050 (1,041) - 1,981 

      

Total funds 33,392 18,623 (15,882) 897 37,030 
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FUNDS (continued) 
Comparative information in respect of the preceding period is as follows: 
 
       Balance at   Gains, Balance at 
   1 September   losses and 31 August 
                 2021 Income Expenditure transfers 2022 
      
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Restricted general funds      
General Annual Grant (1,033) 11,370 (10,944) (222) (829) 
Catch up grant 110 - (110) - - 
LEA and other grants - 349 (349) - - 
Other ESFA grants - 1,035 (1,035) - - 
Other restricted 7 130 (130) - 7 

Pensions reserve (5,277) - (618) 4,687 (1,208) 

      
 (6,193) 12,884 (13,186) 4,465 (2,030) 

Restricted fixed asset 
funds      
DfE/ESFA capital grants 17,691 503 (550) - 17,644 
Private sector capital 
sponsorship 1,101 40 (27) - 1,114 

Capital expenditure 
from GAG 103 - (9) 222 316 
Local Authority capital 
grants 4,189 414 (99) - 4,504 
Private sector long 
leasehold grant 10,070 - (294) - 9,776 

Other government 
grants  81 18 (3) - 96 

       
 33,235 975 (982) 222 33,450 

      

Total restricted funds 27,042 13,859 (14,168) 4,687 31,420 

      

Unrestricted funds 1,971 955 (954) - 1,972 

      

Total funds 29,013 14,814 (15,122) 4,687 33,392 

 
 
The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as follows: 
 
The General Annual Grant must be used for the normal running costs of the academies 
within the Academy Trust. Section 3.10.1 of the Academy Trust Handbook removed the 
previous limits on the amount of General Annual Grant that may be carried forward for 
eligible academies (eligible academies being those that have moved to census based pupil 
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number funding). Both Belvedere and Birkenhead Academy meet this criteria, hence the 
Academy Trust is not subject to a limit on the amount to GAG that can be carried forward.  
 
Local Authority grants relate to local authority funding for the provision of education by the 
academies within the Academy Trust.  
 
The ESFA capital grants are provided by the Government for specific capital purposes. 
 
Sponsorship funds are those funds provided by the academies' sponsors for specific capital 
projects. The long leasehold grants relate to the capitalisation of the 99 year leases of the 
properties at Belvidere Road and Devonshire Place which were granted to the Academy 
Trust by The Girls' Day School Trust. 
 
The transfer from the restricted general fund to the restricted fixed asset fund of £304,000         
(2022: £222,000) represents the total capital expenditure funded from the General Annual 
Grant during the year. 
 
Analysis of academies by fund balance 
 
Fund balances at 31 August 2023 were allocated as follows: 
 Total 
 £'000 
  
Belvedere Academy 761 
Birkenhead Academy 463 
Central Services - 

Total before fixed asset funds and pension reserve 1,224 

  
Restricted fixed asset funds 36,213 
Pension reserve (407) 

Total funds 37,030 
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FUNDS (continued) 
 
Analysis of Academies by cost: 
 
 Teaching and 

educational 
support 

staff costs 

 
 

Other 
support 

staff costs 

 
 
 

Educational 
supplies 

 
 

Other costs 
(excluding 

depreciation) 

 
 
 
 

Total 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Belvedere Academy 4,708 890 346 1,332 7,276 
Birkenhead Academy 5,128 849 328 1,153 7,458 

 9,836 1,739 674 2,485 14,734 

 
    

15 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS 
 
Fund balances at 31 August 2023 are represented by: 
 

  Restricted Restricted  
 Unrestricted general fixed asset Total 
 funds funds funds funds 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
     
Tangible fixed assets - - 35,716 35,716 
Current assets 2,224 983 1,610 4,817 
Current liabilities (243) (1,740) (1,113) (3,096) 

Pension scheme liability - (407) - (407) 

     

Total 1,981 (1,164) 36,213 37,030 
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15 ANALYSIS OF NET ASSETS BETWEEN FUNDS (continued) 
 
Fund balances at 31 August 2022 were represented by: 
 

  Restricted Restricted  
 Unrestricted general fixed asset Total 
 funds funds funds funds 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
     
Tangible fixed assets - - 32,986 32,986 
Current assets 2,015 1,357 759 4,131 
Current liabilities (43) (2,179) (295) (2,517) 

Pension scheme liability - (1,208) - (1,208) 

     

Total 1,972 (2,030) 33,450 33,392 

 

    
 

16 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 
 
The Academy Trust had capital commitments of £3,464,291 in respect of major building 
works at The Belvedere Academy, funded by Liverpool City Council, at 31 August 2023 of 
£2,483,422 (2022: £1,029,087) and £980,869 (2022: £nil) in respect of fire safety and roof 
works funded by ESFA’s Condition Improvement Fund. 
 

17 COMMITMENTS UNDER OPERATING LEASES 
 
At 31 August 2023 the total of the Academy Trust’s future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases was: 
 Other 
 2023 2022 
 £'000 £'000 
   
Amounts due within one year 9   11 
Amounts due between one and five years 13 - 

Amounts due after five years - - 

 22 11 
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18 RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME/(EXPENDITURE) TO NET CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING 

ACTIVITIES 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
Net income/(expenditure) for the year  
(as per the Statement of Financial Activities) 2,741 (308) 
Depreciation (note 11) 1,085 982 
Loss on disposal of tangible fixed assets 63 - 
Capital grants from DFE and other capital income (3,607) (975) 
Increase in debtors (662) (774) 
Increase in creditors 579 368 
Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable 49 526 
Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost 47 92 

Interest received (33) (2) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 262 (91) 

 
19 CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

 
2023 

£'000 
2022 
£'000 

   
Interest received 33 2 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets (3,877) (1,112) 
Capital grants/donations from DFE 1,476 515 
Capital funding received from sponsors and others 2,131 460 

Net cash used in investing activities (237) (135) 
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20 ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 2023 2022 

 £'000 £'000 
   
Cash at bank and in hand 3,045 3,020 

Total cash and cash equivalents 3,045 3,020 

 
ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET DEBT   

     

 

At 1 
September 

2022 Cash flows 
New finance 

leases 
Other non- 

cash changes 
At 31 August 

2023 

      

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

      

      

Cash 3,020 25 - - 3,045 

      

Total 3,020 25 - - 3,045 

   
   
   

21 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
 
There were no contingent liabilities to disclose at 31 August 2023 or 31 August 2022. 
 

22 MEMBERS' LIABILITY 
 
Each member of the charitable company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the 
company in the event of it being wound up while he/she is a member, or within one year 
after he/she ceases to be a member, such amount as may be required not exceeding £10 
for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a member. 
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23 PENSION COMMITMENTS 

Pension and similar obligations 
The Academy Trust's employees belong to three principal pension schemes: The Teachers' 
Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic and related staff; the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non- teaching staff, which is managed by the 
Merseyside Pension Fund and the GDST Pension Scheme for non-teaching staff. All three 
schemes are defined benefit schemes. 
 
The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified 
actuaries. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 
2016 and that of the LGPS 31 March 2022. The GDST Pension Scheme was closed to future 
benefit accrual from 31 December 2016. 
 
Support Staff Pensions 
The deficit of £407k included in the financial statements is made up as follows: 

 2023 2022 

 £'000 £'000 
   
Local Government Pension Scheme  (333) (1,123) 
GDST Pension Scheme  (74) (85) 

 (407) (1,208)  
  

Contributions amounting to £213,255 (2022: £199,128) were payable to the schemes at 
31 August 2023 and are included within creditors. Prepaid contributions amounted to 
£12,437 (2022: £6,928) at 31 August 2023 and are included within debtors. 
 
Teachers' Pension Scheme 
Introduction 
 
The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, 
governed by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for 
teachers in academies. All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following 
enrolment.  
 
The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and employer makes 
contributions, as a percentage of salary - these contributions are credited to the Exchequer. 
Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 
 
Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme  
 
The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial 
review of the TPS in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer 
Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review is 
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to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on 
assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The 
latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The valuation 
report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. The key elements 
of the valuation and subsequent consultation are: 
 
•  employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% 
administration levy) 
 
• total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost of future 
benefits) for service to the effective date of £218,100 million and notional assets (estimated 
future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation date) of 
£196,100 million, giving a notional past service deficit of £22,000 million 
 
• the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The 
current SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of CPI. assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in 
excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to 
be 2.2%. The assumed nominal rate of return including earnings growth is 4.45%. 
 
The next valuation result has been delayed and is now due to be implemented from 1 April 
2024. 
 
The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £1,427,194                   
(2022: £1,345,248).  A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the 
Teachers’ Pensions website. 
 
Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is a multi-employer pension scheme. The 
trust has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution 
scheme.  The trust has set out above the information available on the scheme. 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme 
 
The Academy Trust is one of several employing bodies within the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS). The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme with the assets held in 
separate trustee administered funds.  
 
The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2023 was £603,225 of which 
employers' contributions totalled £451,137 and employees' contributions totalled £151,536.   
The amounts for each Academy were: 
 
- Belvedere Employer contributions £197,946 and Employee contributions £69,925. 
 
- Birkenhead Employer contributions £253,191 and Employee contributions £81,611. 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (continued) 
 
The employer's contribution rate comprises two elements: 
 
- The future service funding rate.  
 
- The past service adjustment. This is a stepped amount for each of the three years of the 
 valuation period.  
 

 Belvedere 
 

Birkenhead  
2023 

 
2023 

    
Future service funding rate  17.80%  19.20% 
Past service adjustment - 2023 total £21,320   £23,388  

   
Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State for Education, to guarantee 
that, in the event of academy trust closure, outstanding LGPS liabilities would be met by the 
Department for Education.  The guarantee came into force on 18 July 2013. 
 
From 1 April 2008, the employees' contribution rate is banded according to the individual 
employee's pensionable pay. Employees' rate ranged from 5.5% to 9.9% in the year ended 
31 August 2023. 
 

Principal Actuarial Assumptions Belvedere Belvedere Birkenhead Birkenhead  
At 31 

August 
At 31 

August 
At 31 

August 
At 31  

August  
2023 2022 2023 2022  

% % % % 
     
Rate of increase in salaries 4.30 4.30 4.30 4.30 
Rate of increase for pensions in payment 2.90 2.90 2.90 2.90 
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.30 4.30 5.30 4.30 
Inflation assumption (CPI)  2.80 2.80 2.80 2.80 
Commutation of pensions to lump sums 50.00 50.00 50.00 50.00 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (continued) 
 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in 
mortality rates.  The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 
  

At 31 
August 

At 31 
August  

2023 2022 
Retiring today 

 
 

Males 20.8 20.9 
Females 23.3 24.0  

  
Retiring in 20 years   
Males 22.1 22.4 
Females 25.1 25.9 

 

  
Belvedere Belvedere Birkenhead Birkenhead  

Fair 
value at 

Fair 
value at 

Fair 
value at 

Fair 
value at  

31 Aug 2023 31 Aug 2022 31 Aug 2023 31 Aug 2022  
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000   

   
Equities 1,748 1,489 1,455 1,105 
Government bonds 192 287 160 213 
Other bonds 60 108 50 80 
Property 403 334 336 247 
Cash 37 68 31 50 
Other 921 803 767 596 
Total market value of assets 3,361 3,089 2,799 2,291  

    
Present value of scheme liabilities  (3,452) (3,582) (3,041) (2,921) 

     

(Deficit) in the scheme (91) (493) (242) (630) 

 
The actual return on the scheme assets was a gain of: 
- Belvedere £114,000 (2022: £132,000 loss) 
- Birkenhead £88,000 (2022: £95,000 loss) 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (continued) 
 
Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities 

  
Belvedere Belvedere Birkenhead Birkenhead 

 2023 2022 2023 2022 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 
  

  
Current service cost  
(net of employer contributions) 29 256 23 274 
Past service cost - - - - 
Net interest cost 18 43 20 4 
Admin expenses 5 5 7 6 

Total operating charge 52 304 50 284  
    

The actuarial gains and losses for the current year are recognised in the statement of 
financial activities. The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the 
statement of financial activities since the adoption of FRS 102 is a gain of £3,050,000 (2022: 
£2,158,000). 
 

Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows: 
   

Belvedere Belvedere Birkenhead Birkenhead   
2023 2022 2023 2022   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000   
     

At 1 September 3,582 5,590 2,921 4,556  
Current service cost 218 419 296 506 

 Past service cost - - - -  
Interest cost 155 96 126 78  
Employee contributions 69 62 81 70  
Actuarial (gain) (529) (2,568) (355) (2,290)  
Benefits paid (43) (17) (28) 1  
      
At 31 August 2023 3,452 3,582 3,041 2,921 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
Local Government Pension Scheme (continued) 
 
Movements in the fair value of Academy's share of scheme assets:    

Belvedere Belvedere Birkenhead Birkenhead   
2023 2022 2023 2022   

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
       

At 1 September 3,089 3,018 2,291 2,088  
Expected return on assets 137 53 106 38  
Actuarial gains/(losses) (75) (185) 83 (132)  
Employer contributions 189 163 273 232  
Employee contributions 69 62 81 70  
Benefits paid (43) (17) (28) 1 

 Administration expenses (5) (5) (7) (6)  
At 31 August 2023 3,361 3,089 2,799 2,291  
     

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year ending 31 August 2024 is: 
- Belvedere £248,000 
- Birkenhead £306,000 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 

GDST Defined Benefits Pension Scheme 
 
The GDST scheme is a funded defined benefits scheme, with the assets held in separate 
trustee administered funds. The scheme was closed to new entrants and to future accrual of 
benefits as of 31 December 2016. 
 
The total contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2023 was £nil (2022: £nil) of 
which employer's contributions totalled £nil (2022: £nil) and employees' contributions 
totalled £nil (2022: £nil). 
 
 

 Principal Actuarial Assumptions At 31 August At 31 August 

 
 

2023 2022 

 
  

 

 Rate of increase in salaries N/A N/A 

 

Rate of increase for pensions in payment/ 
inflation 2.50% 2.50% 

 Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.23% 4.20% 

 Inflation assumption (CPI)  3.06% 3.37% 

 
 

  

 

The Academy Trust's share of the assets and liabilities in the scheme and the 
expected rates of return were: 

 
 

Fair value at Fair value at 

 
 

31 Aug 2023 31 Aug 2022 

 
 

£'000 £'000 

 
 

  

 Equities 246 340 

 Other bonds 45 68 

 Other 114 137 

 Cash 50 46 

 LDI 116 122 

 Total market value of assets 571 713 

 
 

  

 Present value of scheme liabilities  (645) (798) 

    

 (Deficit) in the scheme (74) (85) 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued) 
 
GDST Defined Benefits Pension Scheme 
 
The current mortality assumptions include sufficient allowance for future improvements in 
mortality rates.  The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: 
  

At 31 
August 

At 31 
August  

2023 2022 
Retiring today 

  

Males 21.9 22.4 
Females 24.3 24.5  

  
Retiring in 20 years   
Males 23.5 24.1 
Females 25.7 25.9 
   
        
 Total expenditure recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities  
 

   
 

  
 

  2023 2022  
 

  
  £'000 £'000  

 
  

  
 

  
 

  
 Net interest cost (4) (4)  

 
  

 Current service cost - (4)     

 
Curtailments and 
administration expenses (3) -  

 
  

 Total operating charge (7) (8)     
        

 

The actuarial gains and losses for the current year are recognised in the statement of 
financial activities. The cumulative amount of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the 
statement of financial activities since the adoption of FRS 102 is a gain of £202,000 (2022: 
£197,000). 
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PENSION AND SIMILAR OBLIGATIONS (continued)   

 Movements in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows:  
 

 
2023 2022   

 
 

 
 

£'000 £'000   
  

 
 

      
 At 1 September 798 1,157     
 Interest cost 33 19     
 Actuarial (gain) (149) (347)     
 Benefits paid (37) (31)     

 At 31 August 645 798     
        
        

 
Movements in the fair value of the Academy Trust's share of scheme assets: 
 

  2023 2022 
 

   
  £'000 £'000     
        
 At 1 September 713 920     
 Interest income 29 15     
 Actuarial (losses) (144) (201)     
 Employer contributions 13 14     
 Benefits paid (37) (31)     
 Administration expenses (3) (4)     

 At 31 August 571 713     

        
 

The estimated value of employer contributions for the year ending 31 August 2024 is £nil. 
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24 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Owing to the nature of the Academy Trust's operations and the composition of the board of 
trustees/local governing body being drawn from local public and private sector 
organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a 
trustee/local governor may have an interest. All transactions involving such organisations 
are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the Academy Trust Handbook, 
including notifying ESFA of all transactions made on or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their 
approval where required, and with the academy trust’s financial regulations and normal 
procurement procedures relating to connected and related party transactions. 
 
The Girls' Day School Trust (GDST), the main sponsor of the Academy Trust, had the 
following trustees in common during the year: 
 
Hilary Ann Ewing  
Judith Simons 
Anne Hockaday  
 
Cheryl Giovannoni, the Chief Executive of the GDST and Jonathan Davis, the Chief Financial 
Officer of the GDST, are also trustees of the Academy Trust. 
 
Expenditure related party transactions 
A formal operating agreement exists between the Academy Trust and the GDST whereby the 
GDST shall supply a number of services to the Academy Trust (at no more than such services 
could reasonably be obtained in the open market). The GDST has carried out a costing 
exercise to demonstrate that all services provided have actually been delivered to the 
Academy Trust at less than cost. The amount of services supplied in the year ended 
31 August 2023 is as follows: 
  

2023 2022  
£'000 £'000   

 
ICT support services 84 84 
Payroll services 15 14 
Internal audit services 1 1  

100 99 
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 
 
Creditors includes the sum of £557,267 (2022: £556,604) which was due from the Academy 
Trust to the GDST at 31 August 2023. This amount comprises: 
 

 2023 2022 

 £'000 £'000 

   
Reimbursement of payroll costs 528 491 
Creditor for services/advice 29 66 

 557 557 

 
Income related party transactions 
During the year revenue donations totalling £39,428 (2022: £32,094) were received from 
GDST. 
Debtors include the sum of £797 (2022: £7,365) receivable from the GDST. 
 

25 TRUSTEES' AND LOCAL GOVERNORS' REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES 
 
The Principals and other staff Governors only receive remuneration in respect of services 
they provide undertaking the roles of Principal and Staff, and not in respect of their services 
as Governors. Other Governors did not receive any payments from the Academy Trust in 
respect of their role as Governors. 
 

26 ULTIMATE CONTROLLING COMPANY 
 
The immediate parent undertaking and ultimate controlling party is The Girls' Day School 
Trust (GDST) which is both a charity (charity registration number 306983) and a limited 
company (company registration number 00006400). Control is exercised through the 
parent’s power to appoint or remove the majority of trustees. 
The charitable aim of the GDST is to advance the education of young people (principally girls) 
by the provision of: schools in the United Kingdom; services to other educational charities, 
schools and institutions; and other ancillary or incidental educational activities. The 
consolidated financial statements of GDST are available to the public and may be obtained 
from Companies House. 
 

27 AGENCY ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Academy Trust distributes 16-19 Bursary Funds to students as an agent for ESFA. In the 
year ended 31 August 2023 the Academy Trust received £52,482 (2022: £55,364) and 
disbursed £46,519 (2022: £47,838) from the Fund. Unspent Bursary Funding of £48,882                 
(2022: £43,891) is included in creditors. 
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